IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-1559 LT No. 87-1775CFAWS

SAMUEL JASON DERRICK,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Harry P. Brody Florida Bar No. 0977860

Jeffrey M. Hazen Florida Bar No. 0153060

Brody & Hazen, PA P. O. Box 16515 Tallahassee, Florida 32317 850.942.0005 Counsel for Appellant

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

### 1. Procedural History

Appellant was indicted by the grand jury in Pasco County, Florida on July 14, 1987 (R. 862-863). He was charged with the first-degree murder of Rama Sharma. (R. 994-996) Trial commenced on May 9, 1988 and lasted four days. (R. 944) Appellant was found guilty, and the penalty phase commenced on May 13, 1988, in which the jury recommended death by an 8-4 vote. (R. 955) A "Spencer" hearing, or at least further argument, was held on July 25, 1988 and the trial court, the Honorable Edward H. Bergstrom presiding, sentenced Appellant to death. (R. 994-996). However, on direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court, affirming the conviction, overturned the sentence and remanded the case for a new penalty phase. <u>Derrick v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 1991).

On remand, the Honorable Stanley Mills presided over a three-day trial from November 4, 1991 until November 7, 1991 (testimony was completed on November 5, 1991). During deliberation, the jury advised that it was divided 6-6 (R2. 383). On December 10, 1991, the court heard argument and entered its written findings in support of a death sentence (R2. 452-455). The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the sentence. <u>Derrick v. State</u>, 641 So 2d 378 (Fla. 1994).

After the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on January 23, 1995, post-conviction proceedings commenced. Eventually, the Second Amended Rule 3.850 motion, which is the subject to this appeal was filed.

On March 7, 2002, a "Huff" hearing was held before Judge Mills. He denied an evidentiary hearing on the majority of claims but ordered a hearing on the Claim that another person (Michael Kiesling)had made inculpatory statements and on the claim that, at the second penalty phase, counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel (PCR. 568-637).

On June 30, 2005, an evidentiary hearing was held pursuant to the Court's Order. (PCR. 1008-1114) Subsequently, on July 15, 2005, the lower court entered its "Final Order," denying Appellant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief (PCR. 804-809)

Notice of Appeal of that Order was timely taken and is prosecuted herein.

## 2. Evidentiary Hearing Testimony

At the Evidentiary Hearing held on June 29, 2005, Carolyn Haney testified that she is Samuel Jason Derrick's ("Jason Derrick") younger sister (PCR 833). When she was growing up, the Derrick family consisted of their mother, father, three sons, and her, the only girl (PCR 834). They lived in a trailer in the Moon Lake section of Pasco County (PCR 685). In that environment, Appellant, "Jason" Derrick, was her

protector (PCR 835). He made the neighborhood boys leave her alone and protected her with everything that he had. <u>Id</u>. In fact, Jason was more like her dad than was her dad. (PCR 836) Her own father did not watch out for her, so Jason did. Id.

In the Derrick family, Jason assumed both the father's and mother's responsibilities for caring for his little sister. (PCR 837) She could talk to him about anything and he became a father figure as best he could. <u>Id</u>. The family was handme-down poor, so she was handed down boy's clothes, as she only had brothers. (PCR 838) The family never had money. <u>Id</u>. Nevertheless, Jason played with her and included her in games. <u>Id</u>. Carolyn also recalled the time that they were riding a motorcycle in rainy weather. <u>Id</u>. The bike slipped out beneath them but he inserted himself between her and the ground before she hit the ground. <u>Id</u>. As a result, he was badly scraped up, but she was safe (PCR 838-839)

Carolyn described the Moon Lake neighborhood where they lived as dirty, rough, and violent. <u>Id.</u> Their father was a drinker (PCR 839). He was controlling, and he administered discipline with a belt. (PCR 840) Their mom was not much of a "home maker". <u>Id</u>. Therefore if the kids wanted clean clothes, they had to wash the clothes, <u>Id</u>. If they wanted to bathe in a clean tub, they had to clean the tub. <u>Id</u>. Generally the house was dirty, and the floors were literally

falling through. (PCR 841) Often, there wasn't any food in the place, so, if the chicken didn't lay an egg, there'd be no breakfast. (PCR 841) However, when Jason was around, he'd see that the children would eat. <u>Id</u>. He took care of his brothers as well as looking after his sister. (PCR 842)

The kids wouldn't talk to the mother about much of anything – her mind was pretty much on soap operas. (PCR 842) Carolyn's closest relationship was with Jason. They'd play cards and go fishing in the creek. Id.

Their father's main interest was hunting. (PCR 843) He and their mom were married for twenty years, but mom turned wild and divorced the father when Carolyn was twelve. <u>Id</u>. The divorce was "unfriendly". (PCR 844) Their mother turned to drugs and alcohol. <u>Id</u>.

Vicky, Carolyn and Jason's mother, used and abused cocaine, crack and marijuana. (PCR 845) She used these drugs regularly and used them in front of the children. Id.

When she got divorced, her father, Carolyn's mother's father and the Derrick's children's grandfather, gave Vicky a large sum of money. She used it on herself, and blew most of it on a gambling junket to Reno. <u>Id.</u> Carolyn remembers her mother being gone, but doesn't recall what happened to her in that time. Id. When her mother came back from Reno broke,

Vicky was a different person. <u>Id.</u> Carolyn was only twelve or thirteen at that time. <u>Id.</u>

When Vicky came back from Reno, she didn't want Carolyn around, and she would often leave Carolyn alone with no food or anything. (PCR 846) It was at this time that Vicky Derrick would go around with Michael Kiesling ("Craze"). <u>Id.</u> She even brought Kiesling back to the house. <u>Id.</u> Tellingly, perhaps, Kisling's nickname is "Craze". Id.

Carolyn isn't certain what the precise nature of Vicky Derrick's and Craze's relationship was, although she believes that they were sleeping together. <u>Id.</u> However, she professed no such ambiguity about the precise nature of her own relationship with Craze: she was Craze's "sex slave". (PCR 846)

When Carolyn was around fourteen years old, she was in the room when Craze told Vicky that if Vicky didn't let him "be with" Carolyn he would take Carolyn and she'd never see Carolyn again. (PCR 847) Thereafter, Craze was permitted to have sexual relationships with Carolyn at his will in the Derrick house. (PRC 848) Not surprisingly, Carolyn became pregnant at fifteen and had his child. <u>Id.</u> (Sadly, it also is not surprising that, despite court orders, Craze has never supported either Carolyn or the child. Id.)

The sexual abuse of Carolyn by Craze went on for four years. When Jason found out, he confronted Craze, but Craze threatened to kill the whole family. (PCR 849)

During these years, there was drinking going on "24/7" at the Derrick trailer. (PCR. 850) The drinking and drugging were constant in and outside the trailer, which was by now "falling down" around them. <u>Id.</u> By now, Jason had dropped out of high school and the children had no financial support <u>Id.</u> Craze was in control. (PCR 851) Vicki's weight ballooned up to 400 pounds, and she even told Carolyn that she didn't want her. Carolyn was young and beautiful, so Vicki "gave" her to Craze, so Vicky could have a life as though by proxy. (PCR 851)

When Mr. Derrick found out about Craze, he called the Child Protection Agency. (PCR 851-2) However, Craze threatened Carolyn's life if she told the Agency the truth. Id.

At the trial, in 1991, Jason's attorneys did not talk to Carolyn or ask her about any of the facts that she testified to at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR 853) She would have told them and would have testified to them if they had. Id.

On cross-examination, Carolyn repeated that Jason tried to help out with the situation with Craze. (PCR 857) She stated that her father knew about the squalid conditions at the

trailer, and that there was a time that she found maggots in the bottom of the refrigerator. (PCR 858)

At the evidentiary hearing, Travis Derrick testified that he is Appellant's brother. (PCR 861) Like Jason, Travis' mother is Victoria Derrick and his father is now deceased. Id. Travis is a year and a half older than Jason. Id.

Travis testified that their childhood conditions were "about average," meaning "dirt roads, single-wide trailer in Moon Lake. Id.

When he was fourteen (Jason would have been 12 ½ - 13), Travis and Jason went to live with Harry Joe Martin as foster kids. (PCR 862-863) Mr. Martin was a pedophile who abused both Travis and Jason. (PCR 863) Jason was abused more than Travis and stayed with Mr. Martin longer, from eighteen months to two years. (PCR 864) This period of his life is painful. <u>Id</u>. The abuse was sexual. <u>Id</u>. Martin slept with Jason. (PCR 865)

Travis and Jason had been put into Martin's custody by the state. (PCR 865) When Vicky dropped the boys off at Martin's "doorstep," she said, "Here's the boys, keep them, do whatever you want to do with them. They're yours." (PCR 866) Mr. Martin did. <u>Id.</u> Thus, the sexual abuse was "pretty much" constant for the duration of the stay. Id.

On cross-examination, Travis Derrick testified that he testified at the second penalty phase trial in 1991. (PCR 867) He recalled telling the public defender that he thought Jason was innocent and recalled something about the defense "going positive". (PCR 868)

At the 1991 trial, Travis testified that Jason would defend him at school and would help him with his homework. Id.

On redirect examination, Travis testified that, had he been asked, he would have told the jury about Mr. Martin's sexual abuse of him and Jason Derrick, as he had described it at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR 869) He did not recall Jason's attorney coming and speaking to him face to face prior to testifying. (PCR 870)

Jason Derrick's other brother, Samuel Derrick (note that Jason Derrick's legal name is Samuel also, after his father, so he goes by "Jason") testified at the evidentiary hearing that he is the family's youngest child. (PCR 871) Of the family members, Samuel was closest with Jason, who saved him from drowning once. (PCR 872) Jason was the brother Samuel could go to with a problem. (PCR 873) He cares "very deeply" for Jason, as Jason was "important" to him in his childhood. The father was not very involved. (PCR 874) Whenever Samuel needed Jason, Jason was there for him. He loved, and loves,

Jason very much. <u>Id</u>. He wasn't asked to testify in 1991, but would have. (PCR 875)

On cross-examination, Samuel testified that he was thirteen when Jason was convicted. <u>Id</u>. He would have testified that he loved his brother. (PCR 876)

Cherie Derrick, Jason Derrick's ex-wife, testified at the evidentiary hearing that she married Jason in 1987 and had a son by him who is now 18 - Manuel Sean Jason Derrick. (PCR 878) She met Jason when she was sixteen. <u>Id.</u> Jason was loving and kind. (PCR. 879)

Cherie testified that Jason's home life was "shabby." (PCR 880) Jason was "very" poor. Id. Activity in the Derrick trailer consisted of "just watching TV or playing cards." Id. There were holes in the floor of the trailer through which the ground was visible. (PCR 880-81) There were lots of animals. Id. Jason seemed more concerned with his appearance than the others. Id. The children were not taken care of the way Cherie had been. (PCR 881) Nevertheless, Jason was always responsive to her problems and ready to talk things over with her. (PCR 882) He would always listen. Id. No one had ever listened to her like he did. Id. He was always gentle with her and with their son, and he loved his son very much. (PCR 882) The boy was "his pride and joy." Id.

Cherie Derrick testified at both of the trials and would have testified to the things she described at the evidentiary hearing as well. <u>Id</u>. However, before the second penalty phase, the lawyers did not even talk to her before she testified. (PCR 883) At that time, on cross-examination, Cherie agreed that their son was only a month old at the time of the crime. <u>Id</u>. She agreed that she testified that Jason would "help people", and that he accompanied her to Lamaze classes. (PCR 885)

Victoria Derrick testified that she is Jason's mother and that Samuel Derrick was the father. (PCR 887-888) She was twenty when she had him. <u>Id.</u> She said she learned of the sexual abuse when Travis escaped Martin's house and told her Jason was being abused. Nevertheless, Jason remained with Martin. (PCR 890) She said, "As far as we know, he did not want to come back at that point." <u>Id.</u> Jason would have just turned thirteen at the time. (PCR 891)

Mrs. Derrick testified that she would have testified that Jason had been sexually molested by his "foster father" Martin the entire time he was placed in Martin's custody. (PCR 891) However, nobody asked her "about anything" in 1991. <u>Id.</u> Nobody put her on the stand and nobody questioned her. <u>Id</u>.

Mrs. Derrick also testified frankly that, when her kids were young, conditions in the house were "deplorable".

(PCR 894) She admitted drinking and using drugs back then on a pretty much a daily basis. (PCR 895)

Mrs. Derrick, on cross-examination, agreed that Joe Martin had testified in 1988 and had been arrested for the sexual molestation. (PCR 897) She also recalled testifying that HRS okayed the Martin foster placement, that Jason was mechanically inclined, and that the boys were "ungovernable". (PCR 898)

Ultimately, Mrs. Derrick maintained that she's always had a loving relationship with Jason. (PCR 899)

Clinical neurophysiologist Henry Dee testified as an expert that Jason Derrick completed ten years of education and got a GED in prison. (PCR 920) His father died of an aneurysm.

Dr. Dee described the barren atmosphere that held sway in the Derrick trailer when Jason Derrick was growing up and reported the developmental impediments of chaos, poverty, and parental obliviousness to the children's needs and nurture. In such a place, Jason assumed responsibility for the cooking and cleaning when he was twelve. However, roughly commensurate with the Martin placement, his academics began to deteriorate, and he began using drugs and skipping school. (PCR 923) (Ironically, and sadly, Mrs. Derrick had initiated him into drug abuse. Id. At first, she would have him roll her

marijuana cigarettes and, eventually, have him light them. Soon he was using drugs around the trailer (PCR 924) regularly as well as swilling alcohol. Id. He added cocaine to the cuisine when he'd get it from his mother's "stash". Id. Meanwhile, the father was essentially negative space: he had his own little travel trailer behind the family trailer where he'd basically live. Id. He spent what money he made on himself, updating his arsenal. (PCR 924-925) Rarely, he would take the children hunting or fishing. (PCR 925) Because of his preoccupation with his own pursuits, the children grew up poor in tattered clothes. As Mrs. Derrick explained to Dr. Dee, Jason, who was neat and sensitive about his appearance, became depressed by the raggedy clothes and, when he could, would try to buy his own. Id. As Mrs. Derrick detailed the nature of her husband's absence of participation in the children' lives, Dr. Dee realized that, in fact, neither parent dedicated much time or energy on the children. (PCR 925) Thus, Jason's childhood was characterized by fairly extreme neglect in every sense, both culturally and physically. Id. Further, the mundane neglect was punctuated with episodes of severe abuse. Both parents drank deeply and, not surprisingly, as the drinks mounted, their relationship deteriorated. Both parents became aggressive and visited this drunken aggressiveness on the children. (PCR 926) The father

in particular, would beat the kids with anything he could get a hold of - household objects, extension cords, rubber hoses... <u>Id.</u> The mother, who was also afraid, tried to ignore the violence. <u>Id.</u> Thus, even the occasional family camping trip would be transformed into a forum for fear, as pleading and crying took turns in the ear. <u>Id.</u> Around puberty, the boys were forced by their father to fight each other. (PCR 927)

The marriage was not happy and, progressively worsened. Id. Thus, when her father gifted her \$10,000, Mrs. Derrick got our of town and got a divorce. Id. Although Jason was only a teenager, Mrs. Derrick left home and moved to Vegas. (PCR 927-928) Of course, Jason had lived apart from his mother before, as she had collected him and his brother, in response to the HRS investigation, and delivered them to Joe Martin, who proceeded to molest Jason for a year and a half. Ultimately, Mr. Martin was imprisoned for this sexual abuse of children. (PCR 928) This sexual abuse coincided with the time when Jason began to get in trouble for petty crimes. (PCR 928 - 929) Once, he was incarcerated in the Hillsborough County jail. Id. His crimes were not violent but, rather, tended to be small scale property offenses. Id.

In Dr. Dee's opinion, the sexual abuse suffered by Jason at such a young age would have been traumatic, a horrible experience. (PCR 980)

In the days before the crime of which he was convicted, Jason was, according to Mrs. Derrick, suffering from a "major mental episode". (PCR 981) Mrs. Derrick, arriving at his inlaw's house, where Jason, Cherie and Sean, their baby, were staying, found Jason in a panic, holding the baby, running around the deck in circles and behaving strangely. <u>Id.</u> He seemed confused and panicked and thought that he was going to be denied access to his son. (PCR 932) Mrs. Derrick took him back to the trailer with her to calm down. <u>Id.</u>

Dr. Dee testified that his testing showed that Mr. Derrick suffers from an impairment in memory, due, apparently, to a cerebral dysfunction. (PCR 933-934). Thus, in Dr. Dee's opinion, Mr. Derrick suffers from a major mental disturbance from brain damage "with mixed fractures". (PCR 934) Consistent with this impairment, he would have difficulty inhibiting responses, causing impulsiveness and action without sufficient thought or deliberation. (PCR 935) Although, Dr. Dee could not pin-point a definite trauma to Mr. Derrick's head which may have caused the impairment, although he noted several possibilities. (PCR 936) Regardless, Dr. Dee testified that Mr. Derrick would have difficulty conforming his conduct to the dictates of the law because of his extreme impulsivity and that Mr. Derrick suffers from a major medical disturbance. (PCR 940-941) Specifically, Dr. Dee found that

both statutory mental health mitigation applied and would have so testified in 1991 had he been consulted and called as a witness. (PCR 941)

Joe Martin, who testified at the first trial but not at the 1991 trial, did not respond to his subpoena, so the parties stipulated to the admission of his testimony at the evidentiary hearing.

Douglas Leffler, a public defender, represented Mr. Derrick at the 1991 penalty phase. (PCR 970) He handled issues related to the "guilt phase," although there was not a new "guilt-phase" trial. (PCR 971) Robin Kester, also a public defender, handled the penalty-phase. <u>Id.</u> As far as Attorney Leffler could recall, this was the first "penaltyphase" trial he had participated in. (PCR 981-982). He also did not specifically recall discussing strategy with Ms. Kester. (PCR 982-983) He did prepare a memorandum for Ms. Kester of witnesses used in the previous penalty-phase, wherein he expressed concern Joe Martin's credibility because of his pedophilia. (PCR 983)

On cross-examination, attorney Leffler agreed that the extent of the defense's mitigation evidence was that Jason helped people read, that he helped at the jail "pod," that he stopped fights at the jail, that he was a good person, and that his life was worth saving. (PCR 985-986)

Robin Kester testified that she was the trial attorney representing Mr. Derrick in 1991 with primary responsibility for the presentation of mitigation. (PCR 989) Her strategy was to put on witnesses who would convince the jury to save his life. (PCR 990) Jason had told her he wanted to put on a "positive" case. <u>Id.</u> Ms. Kester testified she had no memory when she spoke to Jason about the sexual abuse inflicted on him. (PCR 992) She also acknowledged that she never spoke to or retained a mental health expert. (PCR 1004-1005)

Ms. Kester stated that she reviewed the first penalty phase as a starting point. (PCR 1020) She also spoke to David Derrick. <u>Id.</u> (Although understandably confused about David going by the name of Travis, Ms. Kester confirms that he was the brother who was also abused by Joe Martin, so he must have been Travis. (PCR 1022))

Attorney Kester she wanted to bring out Jason's protectiveness, his reading lessons, and his keeping an eye out for Travis/David. (PCR 1022) She did not want the sexual molestation to come in, although she says that her judgment on that "might be different now." (PCR 1023) The fact that Jason was placed by the state, because of problems at home, under the care, custody, and control of a pedophile who sexually molested him for a year and a half when he was thirteen and fourteen was not, according to Kester, "positive". (PCR 1023)

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