IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SAMUEL JASON DERRICK,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC05-1559 L.T. No. 87-1775CFAWS

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0327832
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The suggestion that Derrick's resentencing attorneys allegedly failed to investigate mental health issues is misleading. Derrick was represented in both penalty phases by the Public Defender's Office which had, prior to the guilt phase, requested and been granted, on January 12, 1988, the assistance of mental health expert Nancy Simon. (R1. V6/892-893). This appointment was before the trial in May of 1988, the original sentencing in July of 1988, and resentencing in December of 1991.

Derrick has not shown that the psychological evaluation done by Dr. Nancy Simon was not sufficient for all sentencing proceedings or that there was any change in his psychological state after the first sentencing and before the second sentencing. The psychological report of Dr. Simon establishes that counsel had no viable statutory or nonstatutory mitigation to present via a mental health expert in 1988. Defense counsel Dehnart's cover letter to Dr. Simon wrote that they were interested both in Derrick's state of mind during the homicide and any mental mitigators, if he had committed the crime. Defense counsel supplied Derrick's past criminal history and copies of depositions filed in the case. In addition, Dr. Simon reviewed the autopsy, as well as interviewing Derrick conducting the battery of psychological tests over a 4½ hour period on January 21, 1988. Derrick denied all charges and

denied confessing, claiming, rather, that he became so exhausted from the seven hours of interrogation that he had answered multiple choice questions so he could "'go to a cell and be left alone.'" (PCR-V1/181). Additionally, defense counsel McClure hired another confidential mental health expert, Dr. Michael Maher, a psychiatrist from Tampa. When Dr. Maher interviewed the defendant, Derrick denied committing the murder and Dr. Maher could not furnish the defense with any statutory mental health mitigation. (PCR-V7/1088). As in Cherry v. State, 781 So. 2d 1040, 1045 (Fla. 2000), Derrick professed his innocence to the mental health expert, and counsel should not be considered ineffective for failure to contradict that position in presentation of alleged mental health mitigation.

Based on the results of the administered tests of the Rorschach, Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI), Incomplete Sentences Test, Weschler Memory Scale, and Draw-A-Person and her clinical interview, Dr. Simon concluded that Derrick was of average intelligence, he had no developmental or organic brain dysfunction, no psychosis, had good stress tolerance, good decision-making skills, is a flexible thinker, adaptive, empathetic, decisive and action oriented, with manipulative, narcissistic and antisocial personality traits. She concluded that, given his "emotional make-up and cognitive

capabilities, it is also highly unlikely that Mr. Derrick would be easily manipulated by the police or confused in being questioned by the police." (PCR-V1/181-183). She negated that Derrick would lose control in an emotional situation and found that he "is more likely to increase his control over his emotions than to act out precipitously. Therefore, he would not be the type of person who would typically be associated with a frenzied type of action." Id. Finally, as to the lack of any mitigation, she concluded that "[I]f indeed Mr. Derrick did commit the homicide. . ., my professional opinion is that at that time he would not have been suffering from a mental disease or defect and did have the cognitive ability to socially and morally understand the concept of right and wrong." Id.

At the time of trial, Derrick, himself, negated the possibility of mitigation from controlled substances intake. Derrick related to Dr. Simon that he had had no "street drugs" for the month before his arrest and drank approximately four beers a week. (PCR-V1/180). The mental health expert's report, in the possession of defense counsel at the time of trial and resentencing, refutes that counsel had any statutory or nonstatutory mitigation to have been presented through expert witness at the time of Derrick's trial and resentencing.

Trial counsel's choice in the second penalty phase, to

present Derrick as a good, helpful person, rather than including that he had an alcoholic mother and a sexually abusive older friend, achieved more success. The jury in Derrick's first trial recommended death in the first penalty phase by the vote of 8 to 4, and by the vote of 7 to 5 in the second penalty phase. Defense counsel hired Dr. Maher to evaluate Derrick and also obtained a second confidential psychological expert for Derrick's original sentencing proceedings.

Defense counsel's letter to Dr. Nancy Simon specifically requested her evaluation of mental mitigation and her report specifically addressed that request, finding no indication of "any developmental or organic brain dysfunction." (PCR-V1/181). Dr. Simon found that Derrick had "good stress tolerance" and "able to keep his emotions under control." "Therefore, he would not be the type of person who would typically be associated with a frenzied type of action." (PCR-V1/183). Derrick did not report any abuse of drugs at the time of the crime, and Dr. Simon found from Derrick's ability to relate life incidents and his reported responses to them "reflected cool, calm, rational thought processes." She concluded from the test results and interview that Derrick was not the type who "would be likely to become so overwhelmed by emotion that he would lose control and perform acts which he deems immoral." (PCR-V1/183). Defense

counsel relied, in resentencing, on Defendant's willingness to volunteer to help others, including tutoring his older brother through their grade, junior high and high school lessons in reading, writing and arithmetic, and volunteering while in jail to tutor other illiterate prisoners in a reading program. Simon found Derrick eager to inform her of his role "as a protector of the vulnerable and less fortunate. For example, he takes great pride in being referred to as 'big brother' by neighborhood children and made sure that I knew that the only reason that he and his wife lived with her parents was because he needed to protect his mother-in-law from her husband." V1/182). Derrick had no issue of mental retardation or physical injury affecting his cognitive processes. Dr. Simon was aware of Derrick's history of drug abuse during school, but also that he was able to maintain B and C grades in the ninth and tenth grades after failing the seventh grade, which he said was for From the testing and interview she found no drug abuse. of brain dysfunction, either organic or developmental. (PCR-V1/180-181).

There is no evidence that any pre-trial evaluation of Derrick ignored any clear indications of mental health problems or brain damage. As noted in <u>Asay v. State</u>, 769 So. 2d 974, 985-86 (Fla. 2000) (quoting <u>Jones v. State</u>, 732 So. 2d 313, 320

(Fla. 1999)), this case is similar to <u>Jones</u>, where the defendant had been examined prior to trial by a mental health expert who gave an unfavorable diagnosis. As this Court concluded in <u>Jones</u>, "the first evaluation is not rendered less than competent 'simply because appellant has been able to provide testimony to conflict' with the first evaluation."

The evidence from the evidentiary hearing demonstrates that retrial counsel knew about the mental health evaluations, but concluded that the mental health testimony was not helpful to the defendant. Thus, resentencing counsel decided to humanize the defendant through testimony that Derrick was a helpful young man worth saving. Resentencing counsel's decision was a reasonable strategy after full consideration of the alternative. Henry v. State, 862 So. 2d 679, 685-686 (Fla. (finding no error where retrial counsel knew about availability of mental health testimony available, but concluded that it was likely to do more harm than good and, therefore, counsel decided to try to humanize Henry through testimony that he was a peaceful man), citing Rutherford v. State, 727 So. 2d 216, 223 (Fla. 1998) (finding no error where retrial counsel was aware of mental mitigation "but made a strategic decision under the circumstances . . . to instead focus on the 'humanization' of Rutherford through lay testimony"); Haliburton v. Singletary,

691 So. 2d 466, 471 (Fla. 1997) (finding no deficient performance in counsel's decision to humanize the defendant rather than use mental health testimony because the expert would say that the defendant was "dangerous" and likely would kill again); Bryan v. Dugger, 641 So. 2d 61, 64 (Fla. 1994) (finding counsel not ineffective for choosing a mitigation strategy of "humanization" and not calling a mental health expert).

In this case, resentencing counsel's decision not to present mental health experts at the second penalty phase was a reasonable strategic decision and the postconviction proceedings did not demonstrate any deficiency of counsel and resulting prejudice under Strickland. The trial court on resentencing found three aggravating factors, including the compelling HAC factor based on the brutal stabbing of the victim. Ultimately, there is no reasonable probability that had the mental health expert testified, the outcome would have been different. See, Haliburton, 691 So. 2d at 471 ("In light of the substantial, compelling aggravation found by the trial court, there is no reasonable probability that had the mental health expert testified, the outcome would have been different.") Moreover, as the postconviction court stated, in pertinent part:

D. The defendant's attorneys in the second penalty phase proceeding were well aware of the attempts made by the defendant's attorneys in the first penalty proceeding to develop mental health

evidence to assist the defendant. The evidence presented to the court demonstrates that these efforts failed and, although they were not repeated by the attorneys in the second penalty phase proceeding, there appears to have been no reason to expect that further efforts along the lines would have any better chance of succeeding. Testimony was presented to this court by Dr. Dee, a Clinical Psychologist, who first evaluated the defendant some 14 years after the date of the offense. Dr. Dee opined that the defendant may have suffered from a brain injury, but, despite his investigation of the defendant's history, Dr. Dee was unable to point to any incident which may have given rise to such a brain injury. In short, Dr. Dee was unable to say where or when any such brain injury may have occurred. In addition, Dr. Dee testified that it was possible, although not likely, that any such brain injury occurred after the defendant's trial. Although Dr. Dee testified that the defendant was suffering from Chronic Brain Syndrome with memory and frontal lobe features, he acknowledged that this would simply result in the defendant having difficulty controlling his impulses. Dr. Dee further testified that drugs and alcohol would not be the likely cause of Chronic Brain Syndrome and that the sexual abuse suffered by the defendant would have had no effect on his Chronic Brain Syndrome. Otherwise, the defendant demonstrated to have a normal IQ. It should be noted that virtually no evidence was presented demonstrating that the crime was committed while the defendant was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance or that the defendant's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. Dr. Dee's testimony demonstrated that the defendant was quite capable of appreciating the criminality of his conduct. The primary value of Dr. Dee's testimony was that of a non-statutory mitigator.

(PCR-V5/806) (e.s.)

In <u>Hendrix v. State</u>, 908 So. 2d 412, 422-423 (Fla. 2005), this Court agreed that the mere fact that Hendrix found mental

health experts with "more favorable testimony" did not invalidate the testimony of the mental health experts who were relied upon by trial counsel. Further, in both Hendrix and Pace v. State, 854 So. 2d 167, 173-74 (Fla. 2003), this Court rejected a claim that counsel was ineffective for making a strategic decision not to present evidence regarding the defendant's drug usage. The Court has often recognized that trial counsel cannot be considered ineffective for failing to present evidence of drug usage, particularly in light of other evidence which showed that the defendant was quite capable of reasoning. See, Hendrix, supra.

Derrick failed to establish any deficiency and resulting prejudice in regard to any unpresented mental health testimony. First, trial counsel made an informed strategic decision at the time of trial not to call the confidential mental health expert, Dr. Simon. "An ineffective assistance claim does not arise from the failure to present mitigation evidence where that evidence presents a double-edged sword." Reed v. State, 875 So. 2d 415, 437 (Fla. 2004). Second, "[i]n assessing prejudice, 'it is important to focus on the nature of the mental health mitigation' now presented." Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 986 (Fla. 2000) (quoting Rutherford v. State, 727 So. 2d 216, 223 (Fla. 1998)). Even now, Dr. Dee's postconviction testimony was

not sufficient to establish any statutory mental health mitigation or mitigation which would, in all reasonable probability, have outweighed the significant aggravators in this case. See, Suggs v. State, 923 So. 2d 419, 435 (Fla. 2005) (finding defendant was not prejudiced by failure to obtain an additional psychological evaluation in preparation for the penalty phase when postconviction expert found defendant suffered from a significant neurological impairment in the executive functions of the brain but had an "average IQ [of 102]" and "did not suffer from any major psychiatric disorder").

In Morris v. State, 931 So. 2d 821, 835 (Fla. 2006), Dr. Dee testified for another capital defendant at trial and discussed how Morris's background affected him as a child, but Dr. Dee did not discuss whether Morris's IQ level, ADHD, or drug abuse affected him as an adult. However, Dr. Dee did not render an opinion at trial as to whether these factors were likely to have affected Morris at the time he committed the murder. Similarly, in this postconviction case, Dr. Dee did not render any opinion linking any of the defendant's purported mental health factors to the time of the murder.

In the instant case, there is competent, substantial evidence to support the trial court's factual findings, and the defendant has failed to show that the trial court made any legal

errors in its conclusions regarding prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>.

Thus, the defendant's IAC/penalty phase claim must be denied.

ISSUE II

THE POST-CONVICTION CLAIMS SUMMARILY DENIED

Standards of Review

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(d) provides that a postconviction claim may be denied without an evidentiary hearing where "the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief."

Mungin v. State, 932 So. 2d 986, 996, n.8 (Fla. 2006). "To support summary denial without a hearing, a trial court must either state its rationale or attach to its order those specific parts of the record that refute each claim presented in the motion." Id., citing Anderson v. State, 627 So. 2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993).

In <u>Mungin</u>, 932 So. 2d at 996, n.8, this Court noted that "[f]or all death case postconviction motions filed after October 1, 2001, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 requires an evidentiary hearing 'on claims listed by the defendant as requiring a factual determination.' Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(f)(5)(A)(i); see also Amendments to Fla. Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.851, 3.852, & 3.993, 802 So. 2d 298, 301 (Fla. 2001). However, prior to the 2001 amendments to rule 3.851, rule 3.850(d) applied to the summary denials of postconviction motions in both death and nondeath cases. See <u>McLin v. State</u>, 827 So. 2d 948, 954 n.3 (Fla. 2002)." In this case, as in <u>Mungin</u>, because the defendant's motion for postconviction relief was filed in 1998, the summary denial standard set forth in rule 3.850(d) applies in this case.

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